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Friends Meeting House, majestically situated on Quaker Hill, was built between 1815 and
1817 and has changed little since it was built. What change has occurred has not altered
the integrity of the building.

It has a six-bay, two-story, brick facade laid in Flemish bond. There are double doors
in the second and fifth bays. These doors and the side doors each have porticos with
hipped roofs supported by a pair of tapered Ionic columns.

There are two interior end chimneys, probably originally used for stoves which heated
the large meeting room. The stoves are no longer in the building. A corner fireplace was
added when the meeting room was partitioned off. It is the only fireplace in the building.

The north and south three-bay gable ends are pedimented. The brickwork is seven-course
common bond. A double door with pillared portico and a small gallery door are in both
ends. There is also a small added window in the north end.

The windows on the first floor have twelve-over-twelve light sashes while the second-
floor and attic windows are eight-over—-twelve. The first- and second-floor windows have
four-panelled shutters. All of the cellar windows have marble lintels.

A one~-story, nineteenth-century wing is to the west of the building. Its flat roof has
a center gable. A corbelled cornice is still visible under the roofline. In 1951 an
annex was added to this wing; however, the back wall of the nineteenth-century wing is
still visible in the annex and forms its east wall.

Originally, the meeting house was completely open on the inside; however, in this century
an office or social hall with a corner fireplace and vestibule on the first floor and
glassed-in classrooms on the second floor were partitioned off.

The main room is wainscotted, and all of the interior woodwork is stained a dark mahogany.
The original pews or benches remain and are arranged in much the same manner as they have
always been. The main room has four-step risers on the sides. Also remaining is the
large sounding board on the west wall.

A gallery is on the north, east, and south walls. The gallery stairs are in the north-
east and southeast corners of the main floor. Outside access to the gallery is also
attained through small doors on the north and south ends. The gallery once had four-
step risers; but when it was partitioned off for classrooms, the risers were removed.
The second-floor windows, however, are quite high because of the original configuration
of the gallery.

The attic stairway is in the northwest corner of the gallery. The original beams are
visible in the attic, although they were reinforced in this century for the addition

of the heavy tile roof. Also visible in the attic is the massive mechanism for the top
portion of the moveable partition once used to segregate the sexes at meetings. The
moveable wooden partition had counter-balanced sections. The top section is still in
place; however, the bottom section, which rose from the basement, was removed.
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The meeting house sits on the southeast corner of the lot bounded by Fourth, Fifth,
Washington, and West streets. The lot is surrounded by an iron fence on three sides
and a brick wall on the east side. The original carriage gates are still on the north
and south fences, Within the fence is the burial ground. Massive trees add to the
overall beauty of the meeting house and its surrounding lot.
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Friends Meeting House, where most of the prominent Quaker families who first settled

in Wilmington worshipped, is one of the most important religious buildings in Wilmington.
It remains an important center for Wilmington Quakers. The Friends Meeting House is

also outstanding because of its architecture. It is an excellent example of the type of

meeting house constructed by Delaware Quakers in the late eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries.

Although Wilmington was originally founded by the Swedes, it was Pennsylvania Quaker
families such as the Shipleys who settled it. Originally it was called Willingtown,
and by 1739 it had a population of over 600. Such Quaker families as the Canbys and
the Tatnalls had gristmills along the Brandywine River and remained important millers
for over a century. Indeed the economic base for the town was provided by the same
Quaker merchants who settled around Quaker Hill where they built their first meeting
house in 1738, two yvears after Wilmington was incorporated.

The earliest meeting house was located on Fourth Street across from the present one.
In 1748 a larger meeting house was needed, and a building which stood on the same lot
as the present one was built, Its capacity was 500 worshippers; however, the meeting
grew so large that by 1815 a new meeting house was needed.

Between October 26, 1815, and September 25, 1817, the third and present meeting house

was planned and built. The majority of the members of the meeting donated funds for

the building; and upon completion, no money was owed. The original patrons of the build-
ing were some of the most important Wilmington Quakers, including merchants, Samuel
Canby, Thomas Lea, Edward Tatnall, and James Canby; banker, Joseph Bailey; and members
of the Mendenhall, Price, Seal, Hilles, Alrichs, and Ferris families.

This meeting house, completed in 1817, has changed little to the present day. Its large
size reflects its considerable membership. Its detail is simple but well executed.
Outstanding among its features are the porticoed doorways, Flemish bond brickwork,
interior panelling, and massive wooden moveable partition. It represents the Quaker
influence in Wilmington architecture so prevalent through the eighteenth and nineteenth
centuries,

In 1817 when the present meeting house was completed, Wilmington Monthly Meeting of
Friends was called Wilmington Preparative Meeting and included the Stanton Preparative
Meeting. Today the meeting includes the Appoquinimink Preparative Meeting at Odessa.
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Between the time it was constructed and the Civil War, the meeting was involved in
the Hicksite Schism, a division between orthodox Quakers and followers of Elias
Hicks. A frequent speaker at the meeting, Hicks caused a split in the once-united
group. In 1828 the orthodox members left to form their own meeting and to build
their own meeting house at Ninth and Tatnall streets. From 1828 until 1942 the two
meetings were separate, but today they are part of the Wilmington Monthly Meeting
of Friends and meet in the building being nominated.

Members of the meeting were active in the Underground Railroad. In 1787, Delaware
passed a law prohibiting the importation and exportation of slaves. The following
year, Delaware Quakers formed the Delaware Society for Promoting the Abolution of
Slavery. This organization was active throughout the first half of the nineteenth
century.

Thomas Garrett, one of the most famous abolitionists, lived in Wilmington and wor-
shipped at Friends Meeting House. Garrett was responsible for saving nearly 2900
Blacks by means of the Underground Railroad. He is buried in the burial ground
adjacent to the building.

The Wilmington Monthly Meeting of Friends has always been active in the education of
both boys and girls. As early as 1748, the original 1738 meeting house was converted
to a school. As enlarged, it remained until the 1930's when the Friends School

moved to the suburbs. William and Emma Bancroft, members of the meeting, contributed
greatly to education by their donations to Antioch, Swarthmore, George School, and
the parks of Wilmington.

The burial ground contains the remains of several of the most prominent citizens of
Wilmington and of Delaware, including John Dickinson, "The Penman of the Revolution,"
and author of the Letters From é_PennsylVania Farmer; Thomas Garrett, the famous
abolitionist; and Caleb P. Bennett, the former Governor of Delaware from 1833 to 1836.




